IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 00-1351

CHARLES W. FINNEY

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY,
STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joseph T. Hobson, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 507600
Assistant CCRC
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL
MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, FL 33619
(813) 740-3544
COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Finney's motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant was charged by indictment dated February 13, 1991, with first degree murder, sexual battery and dealing in stolen property (R.16-19). The sexual battery charge was nolle prossed. (R.143).

The case proceeded to trial on September 14-18, 1992. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all three counts (R-93). In the penalty phase, appellant, over a defense objection was shackled (R. 815). The jury by a vote of 9-3 recommended the death penalty (R.98).

On November 10, 1992, after denying as legally insufficient appellant's motion for disqualification, the trial judge imposed a death sentence for the murder conviction, a sentence of life imprisonment for the armed robbery conviction and a fifteen-year sentence for the conviction of dealing in stolen property (R.143).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Finney's convictions and sentences, <u>Finney v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995).

On April 16, 1999, Mr. Jack Crooks, then of Capital Collateral Regional Counsel Middle, (CCRC-M), filed on behalf of appellant a thirty-page final amended motion for postconviction relief. This motion contained five claims. On November 17, 1999, appellant filed a pro-se "Motion for Appointment of Competent Counsel" (PC-R. 199-204). No hearing pursuant to Nelson v. State, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla.

4th DCA 1973) was ever held on appellant's pro-se motion.

The circuit court held a Huff hearing on appellant's 3.850 motion on May 26, 1999, (PC-R. 272-297).

As a result of this Huff hearing, an Order was entered on June 9, 1999, by the Circuit Court granting an evidentiary hearing on only one of appellant's five claims (PC-R. 190). The court did not, in this ruling, delineate any reasons for denial of the other four claims. Postconviction counsel Mr. Crooks, then filed on May 4, 2000, a "Motion for Rehearing and To Grant an Evidentiary Hearing" (PC-R. 212)¹. The circuit court denied his motion for rehearing on May 17, 2000.

On June 4, 2000, Mr. Crooks then filed a notice of appeal of this order which denied his motion for rehearing (PC-R. 236).

During the pendency of this appeal, Mr. Crooks left the employ of CCRC-Middle and undersigned counsel assumed the case. Undersigned counsel immediately filed a motion to remand jurisdiction from this court to the circuit court so that it could render a final order in which it actually explained its reasons for the denial of appellant's various claims. While this motion was pending, the trial court, upon prodding from the Office of State

¹It is unclear as to the very viability of this motion in the respect of timeliness. Presumably the order being appealed, that which granted a hearing on one claim but denied same on all four others, was rendered on June 9, 1999. Fla. R Crim Pr. 3.850(g) requires such motions to be filed within 15 days. This motion was filed on May 4, 2000 nearly one year later.

Attorney which was aware of this problem, produced a written final order denying appellant's claims on October 31, 2000, nunc pro tunc to the date of the Huff Hearing, May 26, 1999.

This Court denied appellant's motion to remand the cause back to the trial court and this appeal proceeds.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court order was illegal, as it lacked jurisdiction to render the order. Upon appellant's filing a Notice of Appeal, the trial court was divested of all jurisdiction. See <u>Pearson v. State</u>, 657 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). The trial court order is additionally defective because it fails to adequately explain its reasons for denying appellant's facially sufficient allegations.

The trial court erred in denying an evidentiary hearing on the claim that appellant's trial counsel was ineffective for: failing to object to improper prosecutorial comments which pervaded both voir dire and closing argument, failing to object to an improper aggravator and failing to object to a prosecutor's closing argument.

The trial court erred in denying without a hearing the claim that appellant's trial counsel was ineffective in failing to adequately question potential jurors about their views on race.

The trial court erred in denying without a hearing the claim that appellant's trial counsel was ineffective in failing to challenge the prosecutor in his successful exclusion of potential

jurors who were opposed to the death penalty but promised to keep an open mind.

The trial court erred in denying without a hearing the claim that appellant's trial counsel was ineffective in failing to present a greater breadth of mitigation evidence.

The trial court erred in denying without a hearing the claim that appellant's rights under <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S. 68 (1985) were violated when his trial counsel failed to provide his psychiatrist with all the necessary information in evaluating appellant's condition.

The trial court erred in denying without a hearing the claim that appellant's trial counsel was ineffective in failing to retain a crime scene expert.

The trial court erred in failing to oversee and ensure the rendition of effective postconviction counsel as required by Section 27.711(12) Florida Statutes in failing to conduct a Nelson Hearing on the complaint of appellant as to the performance of his original postconviction counsel, Mr. Jack Crooks.

As a result of the ineffectiveness of appellant's previous postconviction counsel, his many meritorious claims are minimally and negligently pleaded in a manner that may well have harmed his prospect for an evidentiary hearing.

Execution by lethal injection violates appellant's rights under the Eighth amendment to the United States Constitution.

The Florida Capital Punishment Statute is unconstitutionally arbitrary and violates appellant's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

Appellant's trial was fraught with procedural and substantive errors which violate his rights under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution.

Appellant is innocent of the death penalty and was sentenced to death in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING APPELLANT'S CLAIMS WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING AND IN RENDERING A FACIALLY INSUFFICIENT ORDER WHICH FAILS TO CONCLUSIVELY REFUTE FACIALLY SUFFICIENT ALLEGATIONS.

The trial court's order of denial is illegal. Up until October 31, 2000, there had never been entered a written order of denial which actually explained the trial court's reasons for denying appellant's motion. On that date, the trial court filed an Order of Denial and entered it nunc pro tunc to the date of the evidentiary hearing, May 26, 1999.

The Circuit Court lacked jurisdiction to enter this Order. As of May 4, 2000, when appellant had filed his notice of appeal, this case had been in the Florida Supreme Court. The trial court had been divested of jurisdiction at the time of the entry of the nunc pro tunc order. The final order is accordingly invalid. See

<u>Pearson v. State</u>, 657 So. 2d, 21 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

The trial court order is also in error for having denied summarily appellant's motion without an evidentiary hearing and without adequately explaining its actions. It largely synposizes the history of the case, carefully lays out what appellant's claims are but only briefly and superficially deals with some of the claims in terms of analysis. It then affixes a large portion of the trial transcript to the order as if to add some sort of weight to its position.

As shall be argued with particularity in the body of this brief, legally sufficient claims were asserted by appellant in his motion for postconviction relief. Yet the trial court fails to sufficiently explain its reasons for summarily denying each claim without the benefit of a hearing. Consequently its order is far below any threshold of legal acceptability. See Patton v. State, 2000 WL 1424526 (Florida, September 28, 2000).

In <u>Allen v. Butterworth</u>, 756 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2000) the Supreme Court of Florida held that in addition to the unnecessary delay and litigation concerning the disclosure of public records, another major cause of delay in postconviction cases was the failure of the circuit courts to grant evidentiary hearings when they are required. <u>Id.</u> at 32.

The Supreme Court of Florida in its proposed amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.851. 3.852 and 3.993 (no

SC96646) (4/14/00) states:

"Another important feature of our proposal is the provision addressing evidentiary hearings on initial postconviction motions. As previously noted we have identified the denial of evidentiary hearings as the cause of unwarranted delay and we believe that in most cases requiring an evidentiary hearing on initial postconviction motions will avoid that delay" Id at 9.

(See also Mordenti v. State, 711 So.2d 30 (Fla. 1998))

This Court is not required to accord particular deference to any legal conclusion of constitutional deficiency or prejudice under the <u>Strickland</u> test for evaluating the effectiveness of counsel. The alleged ineffectiveness of counsel is a mixed question of fact and law. While an appellate court might defer as a question of trial court factual determination on the issue of the omission constituting a deviation, the issue of whether such an omission resulted in prejudice is a de novo determination by the appellate court.

This Court has stated such a principle in the decision of Stephens v.State, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 2000). This Court recognized the trial court's superior vantage point in assessing the demeanor and believability of witnesses.

Yet despite this deference to a trial court's findings of fact, the appellate court's obligation to independently review mixed questions of fact and law of constitutional magnitude is also an extremely important appellate principle. This obligation stems

from the appellate court's responsibilities to ensure that the law is applied uniformly in decisions based on similar facts and that the appellant's representation is within constitutionally acceptable parameters. That is especially critical because the Sixth Amendment right to assistance of counsel is predicated on the assumption that counsel "plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair"

Stephens, 740 So.2d at 1032.

The United States Supreme Court addressed this identical issue in another context, as applied to the area of unreasonable searches and seizures.

A policy of sweeping deference [to the trial court's legal conclusions] would permit "in the absence of any significant difference in the facts," "the Fourth Amendment's incidence to turn on whether turn on whether different trial judges draw general conclusions that the facts are insufficient to constitute probable cause." Such varied results would be inconsistent with the idea of a unitary system of law. This as a matter of course would be unacceptable. In addition, the legal rules for probable cause and reasonable suspicion acquire content only through application. Independent review is therefore necessary if appellate courts are to maintain control of, and to clarify, the legal principles. Finally, de novo review tends to unify precedent.

(Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690, 116 S. Ct. 657, 134 L. Ed.2d 911 (1996))

Accordingly, appellant requests this Court to order an evidentiary hearing on his claims. Mr. Finney's claims involve issues requiring full and fair Rule 3.850 evidentiary resolution.

<u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Heiney v. Dugger</u>, 558 So. 2d 398 (Fla. 1990); <u>Mason v.</u> <u>State</u>, 489 So. 2d 734 (Fla. 1986).

Some fact-based postconviction claims by their nature can only be considered after an evidentiary hearing. Heiney v. State, 558 So.2d 398, 400 (Fla. 1990). "The need for an evidentiary hearing presupposes that there are issues of fact which cannot be conclusively resolved by the record. When a determination has been made that a defendant is entitled to such an evidentiary hearing (as in this case), denial of that right would constitute denial of all due process and could never be harmless." Holland v. State, 503 So.2d 1250, 1252-53 (Fla. 1987). "Accepting the allegations . . . at face value, as we must for purposes of this appeal, they are sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing." Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So.2d 1364, 1365 (Fla. 1989)(emphasis added).

Mr. Finney has pleaded substantial, factual allegations which go to the fundamental fairness of his conviction and to the appropriateness of his death sentence. "Because we cannot say that the record conclusively shows appellant is entitled to no relief, we must remand this issue to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing." Demps v. State, 416 So.2d 808, 809 (Fla. 1982).

Under Rule 3.850 and this Court's well-settled precedent, a postconviction movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; Hoffman; Lemon; O'Callaghan; Gorham. Me. Finney has alleged facts which, if proven, would entitle him to relief.

Furthermore, the files and records in this case do not conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief.

The trial court's denial of Mr. Finney's Rule 3.850 motion stands in stark contrast to the clear and unmistakable requirements of law. It makes no use of the record or files in this case to show conclusively that Mr. Finney is not entitled to relief. It attempts no analysis whatsoever. The order ignores the express requirements of Rule 3.850 and is oblivious to the substantial body of case law from this Court holding that courts must comply with the rule and, at least, conduct a hearing. Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

As in <u>Hoffman</u>, this Court has "no choice but to reverse the order under review and remand," 571 So.2d at 450, and order a complete evidentiary hearing on Mr. Finney's 3.850 claims.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING WITHOUT A HEARING THE MERITORIOUS CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE COUNSEL $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$ **FAILING** TO OBJECT PROSECUTORIAL COMMENTS IN VOIR DIRE AND IN CLOSING ARGUMENT: MISSTATEMENT OF THE LAW; IMPROPER REFERENCE TO OTHER CRIMES; EXPRESSION PERSONAL OPINION ANDIMPROPER CLOSING ARGUMENT IN VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S RIGHTS SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

2. Improper Prosecutorial Comment During Voir Dire.

A. Misstatement of the law.

In the trial of appellant, the voir dire of the jury panel was conducted by two individual assistant state attorneys. The first state attorney questioned the jurors relative to the guilt phase of

the trial, while a second state attorney, Nicholas Cox, queried the panel as to the penalty phase (R.1-238).

The second assistant state attorney, discussing penalty phase issues, misstated the law without an objection. Appellant's trial counsel was manifestly ineffective in not objecting to these comments by him:

"...and we're relying on the facts of this murder, which the Legislature says we can do, -- if certain facts appear, we can still argue for the death penalty to you -- if the State were to go forward with no facts -- which wouldn't happen here -- but if that were the case, do you think you can still consider the death penalty based upon the facts of the murder itself." (R.130-131).

" And the law says that if certain aggravating factors, one or more, -- I mean, you just need one..."

(R. 152).

These comments are not a correct statement of the law, which requires a weighing of the aggravating and mitigating factors. Counsel's failure to object and move for a mistrial was ineffective and prejudicial to the defendant.

Trial counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's misstatement of the law as it related to the weighing of aggravators and mitigators. The prosecutor's statements gave the jury the impression that if the State proved "just one" aggravator, then death would be appropriate (R. 152).

B. Improper reference to other crimes to be presented in the penalty phase.

Next, the assistant state attorney, Mr. Cox, plants and

cultivates the impression that "other evidence" would be presented in furtherance of or in support of the state's position for the death penalty the second so-called "penalty" phase. This is not merely an unwitting, verbal slip, it is a seemingly calculated ploy repeated through his line of inquiry especially in the following parts:

"But one thing that is important is that if Mr. Finney is convicted of murder in the first degree that you can each **promise** Mr. Finney in all fairness to him, you know, that you can keep an open mind, okay, because like I said, it's a whole completely different hearing. You will probably hear new evidence, new testimony and new argument by counsel. Okay. And you will have, you know, all of that additional evidence and testimony to work on. Can you promise Mr. Finney and the people that regardless if you're a person who believes strongly in the death penalty or just believes in it moderately, can you all **promise us** that you will still consider that evidence and not make decision until have you everything until the very end." (R. (emphasis added). "You can **promise** both the people and Mr. Finney that you will not consider what may ultimately have to happen." (R. 136) (emphasis added). "Can you **promise** Mr. Finney that you wouldn't make a decision and you wouldn't commit yourself until you hear the second phase?" (R. 144) (emphasis added). " So, you would be willing to listen to the additional evidence and testimony in the second phase."

(R. 144)

The assistant state attorney's transgression occurred when he repeatedly, almost with seeming calculation, alluded to "additional evidence," which he would be presenting at the penalty phase of the trial.

The assistant state attorney alluded to the evidence which ultimately was presented at the penalty phase which was that the appellant had been convicted of a prior violent felony to wit a sexual battery (R901) and thus this was an appropriate aggravating circumstance to consider under Section 921.141 (5) Florida Statutes.

The clear inference reinforced by the assistant state attorney was that more evidence than that which would be presented at guilt phase would be available to the jury in the second phase.

The trial court's order of denial clearly fails to adequately refute this facially sufficient allegation regarding the improper prosecutorial statements which were made in the course of voir dire.

The court ruled as follows:

Defendant Finney also arques that prosecution extracted promises from the jurors regarding their ability to be fair and alluded to additional evidence they would hear in the second phase. The transcript clearly establishes that the prosecutor asked the jury to promise that they would keep an open mind." (Exhibit D _ Transcript, page111). Furthermore, Defendant's contention falls under the analysis of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed 2d 624 (1984). It is the obligation of counsel to determine in voir dire if a juror can be fair and unbiased as well as the penalty phase.

Order at 12.

This finding of the Order vacuously glosses over the essence

of the allegation. The court ignores the inference of the comments by the prosecutor, that the jury will be receiving "additional" evidence which he cannot disclose until the commencement of second phase and which they will need to evaluate before they can decide the question of life or death.

C. Improper expression of personal views.

The prosecutor injected his personal feelings into the voir dire without an objection by defense counsel when the following statement was made while discussing the juror's feelings about the death penalty:

"Some of you may think, Gee, it [the death penalty] should be imposed almost every time there is a murder in the first degree. And we're not going to take issue and argue with you about that."

(R. 110,111) (emphasis added).

This statement is a personal commentary that the prosecutor believes every first-degree murder deserves the death penalty and is highly prejudicial to the defendant because it sends a message to the ultimate panel that death is the only verdict. Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to such a statement and in failing to make a motion for mistrial.

2. Improper Closing Argument.

Counsel failed to object to personal comments made by the prosecutor, one of which was that the murder was disgusting as follows:

" Thirty dollars to pawn that VCR...that is the value of Sandra Sutherland's life to

Charles Finney. That is disgusting."

(R. 900,901) (emphasis added).

Failure to object by defense counsel was both ineffectiveness and prejudicial to the defendant.

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