IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES W. FINNEY,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC00-1351

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 801-0600
FAX (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Similarly, no possible prejudice can be discerned from this

allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel. The evidence against Finney was strong, and no reasonable claim of a different verdict has been offered. No allegation of innocence is submitted and no new theory of defense has been suggested. Although Finney now criticizes his attorney's alleged failure to investigate, he never identifies what fruit may have been borne of further investigation or how the outcome may have been affected. In fact, Finney's brief does not even present a conclusory allegation of guilt phase prejudice with this issue.

Clearly, his claim in this regard is factually insufficient. See, LeCroy, 727 So. 2d at 239 (noting defendant's burden to allege specific facts which are not conclusively rebutted by the record and which demonstrate a deficiency on the part of counsel that was detrimental to the defendant). The trial court's summary denial of this claim was proper.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ENSURE THE RENDITION OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF POSTCONVICTION COUNSEL.

Finney's next claim asserts that a remand is necessary because the court below failed to comply with 27.711(12), Florida Statutes, 4 requiring judicial oversight of the quality of postconviction representation. He alleges that his pro se motion complaining of the adequacy of counsel was denied without a hearing and that the facts of this case warrant a remand for further postconviction proceedings as ordered by this Court in Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999), and Fotopolous v. State, Case No. 91,277. He also notes that this Court has provided relief to postconviction defendants due to omissions by counsel in Williams v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S1069 (Fla. Nov. 22, 2000), and <u>Steele v. Kehoe</u>, 747 So. 2d 931 Finally, he offers new versions of issues previously pled below and in Issues II through VI of his appellate brief which he claims compel further consideration in the circuit court. As will be seen, neither the facts of this case nor the authorities cited by Finney mandate a remand for further proceedings.

The record on appeal reflects that the court below conducted

⁴It should be noted that this statutory directive applies to cases in which registry counsel has been appointed by the trial court pursuant to Section 27.710, Florida Statutes.

regular hearings to ensure that this case was properly See, PC-R. V2/ 247-54 (Sept. 4, 1997, conference); PC-R. V2/ 255-58 (June 30, 1998, conference); PC-R. V2/ 259-62 (Nov. 16, 1998, status conference); PC-R. V2/ 263-67 (Jan. 21, 1999, status conference, dates set for filing postconviction motion, response, and Huff hearing); PC-R. V2/ 268-71 (March 15, 1999, status conference); PC-R. V2/ 272-98 (May 26, 1999, <u>Huff</u> hearing; evidentiary hearing granted on Claim 1(B) and set for Aug. 21); PC-R. V2/ 299-302 (June 16, 1999, defense motion to release samples granted); PC-R. V2/ 303-08 (Aug. 30, 1999, granting continuance of evidentiary hearing because samples not provided); PC-R. V2/ 309-13 (Oct. 11, 1999, status conference); PC-R. V2/ 314-19 (Nov. 24, 1999, status conference, defense lab still working on evidence; Finney's pro se Motion for Appointment of Competent Counsel heard and denied); PC-R. V2/ 320-23 (Dec. 20, 1999, granting defense motion to compel Department of Corrections to allow independent blood draw from Finney); PC-R. V2/ 324-30 (Jan. 24, 2000, status conference, still getting blood draw); PC-R. V2/ 331-34 (April 4, 2000, status conference, still waiting for lab results); PC-R. V2/ 335-40 (May 4, 2000, defense withdraws prior DNA claim, court denies postconviction motion); PC-R. V2/ 341-45 (May 17, 2000, denying motion for rehearing).

Finney's pro se motion to dismiss Jack Crooks and secure the

appointment of other postconviction counsel was properly denied. However, it must be noted initially that even if it should not have been denied, it would be moot at this point and therefore no basis for a remand since Finney is now represented by different, and clearly competent, counsel. Current counsel Joseph Hobson has had an opportunity to meet with Finney and to review all of the records and transcripts in this case; if there were additional issues that should have been litigated in the postconviction motion filed below, he certainly could have identified those issues in his initial brief. He has not identified any new issues, 5 although he has provided additional arguments on the claims raised below. Thus, any relief which could be provided upon a remand -- specifically, the provision of different postconviction counsel -- has already been afforded to Finney, and any issue regarding the denial of his pro se motion is moot.

Furthermore, the record in this case reflects that the prose motion was properly denied. The ruling on a motion to dismiss court appointed counsel is within trial court's discretion, and therefore the standard of review is for an abuse of discretion. Howell v. State, 707 So. 2d 674, 680 (Fla.

⁵Finney has presented two claims in his appellate brief, Issues X and XI, which were not raised in his postconviction motion, but these are meritless claims which are routinely denied in postconviction, and he does not attempt to explain why counsel below should have included them in the postconviction motion.

Nelson v. State, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973). Although Finney analogizes his motion to one which requires a hearing on the adequacy of counsel pursuant to Nelson, there are obvious distinctions between Finney's motion and the situation addressed in Nelson. Most critically, a Nelson hearing is required when a criminal defendant expresses dissatisfaction with his appointed attorney as a way to ensure that the constitutional right to counsel is not infringed by incompetent representation. Of course, there is no constitutional right to postconviction counsel, and as this Court has recognized, claims of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel do not present a valid basis for relief. See, Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1122 (1998); Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1 (1989); Pennsylvania v. Finley, 481 U.S. 551 (1987).

This principle has not been eviscerated by <u>Peede v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999), or <u>Fotopolous v. State</u>, Case No. 91,277. Although Finney claims that <u>Peede</u> was remanded "for a new 3.850 to be filed because of concerns [this Court] had with the quality of postconviction counsel," (Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 27), in fact a reading of <u>Peede</u> establishes that the case was remanded for an evidentiary hearing, not a new motion, because the prior motion warranted an evidentiary hearing and should not have been summarily denied. Similarly,

in <u>Fotopolous</u>, this Court's order (attached hereto as Ex. C) does not indicate that the remand was occasioned by a finding of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel. In fact, the remand order suggests that there were continuing, outstanding public records issues to be addressed, suggesting the remand was not entered due to ineffective assistance of counsel.

Finney's reliance on Steele v. Kehoe, 747 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 1999), and Williams v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S1069 (Fla. Nov. 22, 2000) to establish a right to relief premised on ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel is also misplaced. Τn those cases, this Court did not recognize any claim of ineffective assistance of collateral counsel, but resolved the issues presented on due process grounds. Those cases involved defendants that had been denied the opportunity to pursue initial postconviction remedies because their collateral attorneys did not properly invoke the postconviction process. The total deprivation of collateral review was a lack of process that could not stand under the Fifth Amendment. Because Finney has not been denied the process of postconviction review, his case is markedly different than Steele, and Williams.

Thus, Finney's suggestion that a lack of effective assistance of collateral counsel may entitle a capital defendant to another opportunity to present claims which reasonably should have been presented in an initial motion for postconviction

relief is not persuasive. There is clearly no constitutional right to collateral counsel, and therefore any alleged lack of effective assistance of counsel in postconviction proceedings cannot create any right to file a successive motion seeking postconviction relief. See, Lambrix, 698 So. 2d at 248; Keeney v. Tamayo-Reyes, 504 U.S. 1, 10, n. 5 (1992). However, even if a capital defendant's statutory right to counsel deserves the protections afforded by Nelson and its progeny, the motion filed below was insufficient to warrant a more extensive hearing than that provided below.

The only specific complaint noted in the pro se motion was the assertion that counsel's intention to use pretrial DNA samples from Finney was inadequate because of the belief that tampering with those samples may have taken place (PC-R. V2/ 199-206). This concern was obviously resolved when the defense, within a couple of weeks, secured an independent blood draw from Finney to use for comparison testing purposes (PC-R. V2/ 207-211; V3/ 320-323). The other general allegations dissatisfaction with counsel included in the motion did not require further consideration. See, Lowe v. State, 650 So. 2d (Fla. 1994) (merely generalized grievances are 969, 975 insufficient to warrant dismissal of court appointed counsel); <u>Wilder v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 543, 545 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (thorough inquiry required where defendant makes a "seemingly substantial complaint" regarding counsel).

Finally, Finney does not attempt to establish how counsel's issues failure to raise any additional in his postconviction motion could have prejudiced him. He certainly has not identified any issues which he believes should have been raised which could have made a difference in this case. Although his appellate brief raises two claims (Issues X and XI) which were never presented below, both of these claims can be easily dismissed, since they are conclusory, standard allegations of cumulative error and innocence of the death penalty which this Court routinely rejects in postconviction appeals.

Furthermore, current counsel for Finney has re-argued several of the ineffective assistance of counsel issues which were presented below, and even as now argued in the current brief, the issues do not warrant an evidentiary hearing. Three of these issues involve trial counsel's failure to object to prosecutorial comments and argument. Although these claims are now padded with additional record citations, they continue to be both procedurally barred since they are direct appeal issues attempting to be relitigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel, as well as without merit because still no prosecutorial impropriety is demonstrated.

Similarly, the newly re-argued claim that counsel was

ineffective for failing to present mitigation witnesses remains facially insufficient. Although Finney has at least finally provided some indication of additional mitigating evidence which counsel did not present, this evidence is not compelling. Finney notes that, as a child of three or four, he fell off a rocking chair and received a scar on his head; that he suffered from anemia; that in elementary school he had a reading problem and exhibited a stubborn demeanor; that, as a teenager, his best friend drowned, he was shot by a cousin, and he witnesses the hit and run death of another cousin; and that, while in the military, he handled coded military messages in Germany and completed a training course in voice radio. In addition, Finney notes that he developed a drug problem while in the military, smoking hashish and marijuana and using heroin, for which he never received professional counseling but did attend a rehabilitation treatment program.

In light of the mitigating testimony that was presented at trial, and considering the aggravated nature of the murder in this case, none of this newly proffered evidence can be considered substantial or compelling enough to possibly make a difference. There was testimony presented at sentencing about his military service, which took place in 1972-74 (DA-R. V6/865, 875-76). Neither the fact that he may have briefly used drugs nearly twenty years before the murder, nor his typical

childhood bumps and traumas, could have led to any different result in this case. The cases previously cited in Issue V of this brief continue to refute the need for any evidentiary hearing on this claim.

Similarly, the new argument as to alleged ineffectiveness for failure to provide adequate background information to the mental health expert suffers the same flaws as the previous argument -- there still is no identification of any particular information that should have been provided, no allegation that Dr. Gamache's testimony as to Finney's background was inaccurate or incomplete, and no assertion as to how Dr. Gamache's opinions would change had further information been provided. Again, for the reasons expressed in Issue VI of this brief, no evidentiary hearing is warranted.

Finally, the argument that Finney's postconviction counsel was ineffective because he was "regrettably meek and nonchalant" in arguing the motion for rehearing does not offer any basis for relief. Finney's current counsel does not even make a conclusory showing of deficiency or prejudice in this claim.

Thus, Finney's allegation that he was denied effective assistance of counsel in the presentation of his motion for postconviction relief must be rejected.

ISSUE IX

WHETHER FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Finney's next issue asserts that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied. This issue is not cognizable on appeal; therefore, there is no standard of review. This claim is both procedurally barred and without merit, and was therefore properly summarily denied by the court below. See, Hall v. State, 742 So. 2d 225, 226 (Fla. 1999); LeCroy, 727 So. 2d at 241, n. 11; Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 204-205, n. 1, 2; Ziegler v. State, 452 So. 2d 537, 539 (Fla. 1984). To the extent that Finney is challenging Florida's lethal injection statute which did not exist at the time of his resentencing, this Court has rejected his claim on the merits. Sims v. State, 754 So. 2d 657 (Fla.), cert. denied, 120 S.Ct. 1236 (2000); Provenzano v. State, 761 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 2000).

ISSUE X

WHETHER FINNEY'S TRIAL WAS FRAUGHT WITH PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE ERRORS WHICH, WHEN VIEWED CUMULATIVELY, COMPEL RELIEF.

Finney's claim that cumulative trial errors compel relief was never presented to the trial court. This issue is not cognizable in this appeal; therefore, there is no standard of review. Since this issue was not included in his postconviction motion, it is procedurally barred. See, Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 219, n. 9 (Fla. 1999); Doyle v. State, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). In addition, since no showing of constitutional error has been made with regard to any of the claims currently or previously presented, no relief is warranted. In the absence of any demonstrated errors, this claim must be rejected as meritless. Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509, n. 5, (Fla. 1999); Mendyk v. State, 592 So. 2d 1076, 1081 (Fla. 1992).

ISSUE XI

WHETHER FINNEY IS INNOCENT OF THE DEATH PENALTY AND SENTENCED TO DEATH IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Finney's last claim asserts that he is actually innocent of the death penalty. This issue is not cognizable in this appeal; therefore, there is no standard of review. Once again, this issue is procedurally barred since it was not included in his postconviction motion. Shere, 742 So. 2d at 219, n. 9; Doyle, 526 So. 2d at 911. Finney's position seems to be that the aggravating factors found by the trial court were all invalid, and therefore death was not a proper sentence. His argument on this issue is clearly procedurally barred, particularly since this Court specifically upheld the applicability of each of the three aggravating factors in his direct appeal, and expressly found the sentence imposed in this case to be proportional. Finney, 660 So. 2d at 680, 684-85. His current brief offers no basis for reconsideration of the prior affirmance of his death sentence, and no reasonable basis exists for a different result. No relief is warranted on this claim.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the summary denial of the appellant's motion for postconviction relief should be affirmed.